
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

October 17, 2017   5:30 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Travis Chance 
 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 10-03-2017 Council Minutes 
B) Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution 2017-36 : A Resolution authorizing 

the destruction of certain municipal records that have met their retention. 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion for Approval of an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) 
regarding participation of Bulloch County and payment of a portion of its tax increment 
to City of Statesboro TAD #1: Downtown TAD. 
 

6.  Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 17-
10-01: Paul D. Walsh requests a zoning map amendment for .7 acres of property located 
at Lanier Drive from R4 (High Density Residential District) to CR (Commercial Retail) 
zoning district to construct a mixed-use retail center (Tax Parcel # MS63 000010 000). 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 17-
09-02: Robert Byrd requests a zoning map amendment for .14 acres of property located at 
204 Roundtree Street from R6 (Single-Family Residential) to CR (Commercial Retail) 
zoning district to construct a parking lot, farmer’s market and community area (Tax 
Parcel # S09 000068 000). 
 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # V 17-10-
02: Whitfield Signs requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 3 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 8.24 acres of property located at 409 Clairborne Avenue 
regarding the maximum allowed for freestanding and building signs in Sign District 1 
(Tax Parcel # S53 000001 000). 
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2017-35: A Resolution of the Mayor 
and City Council of Statesboro to adopt the bylaws and letter of support for the Keep 
Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Commission (KSBBC).  

 
10. Consideration of a motion to reject all bids for the "South College Street Headwall 

Construction" Project. 
 



 
 

11. Discussion of TSPLOST and authorize the City Manager and staff to continue the 
preliminary negotiations regarding the City’s participation. 
 

12. Other Business from City Council 
 

13. City Managers Comments 
 

14. Public Comments (General) 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss  “Real Estate” and 
“Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 
October 3, 2017 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on October 3rd, 2017 at 9:00 a.m. in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Travis Chance.  Also present were City 
Manager Randy Wetmore, Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling and 
City Attorney Cain Smith.      
The Meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore. 
 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilman Sam Lee Jones. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  

A) Presentation by Ecological Planning Group on the completion of Task Order 1 
of the Stormwater Master Plan. 

 
Marcos Trejo, Stormwater Manager, Robert Brown, Resource Engineer for EPG and Wesley 
Parker updated Council on the completion of the task order 1 for stormwater.   MLK West and 
Lake Sal were on top of the list for repairs. 
  
Councilman John Riggs joined the meeting at 9:20 am. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 09-19-2017 Council minutes 

 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to approve the consent 
agenda in its entirety. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Second Reading of Ordinance 2017-13:  An ordinance to revise Article 
XV (Signs) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the permitted districts in which 
projecting signs can be installed. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
No one spoke for or against the request. 



 
 

Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to adopt   Ordinance 2017-
13:  An ordinance to revise Article XV (Signs) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the 
permitted districts in which projecting signs can be installed. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, 
Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Alcohol License Application: 

A)  El Rancho Grande Mexican Restaurant LLC 
           Manuel Lopez 
           3000 Northside Drive West 
          Statesboro Ga 30458 
  

B) Holiday Inn Statesboro  
      Jack Forstrom 

           455 Commerce Drive 
           Statesboro Ga 30458 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing 
for item A and B. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing 
for item A and B. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve the alcohol 
application for El Rancho Grande Mexican Restaurant LLC. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, 
Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to approve the alcohol 
application for Holiday Inn Statesboro. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of the building located at 125 South 
College Street (formerly the Municipal Court Office). 
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve the surplus and 
disposal of the building located at 125 South College Street (formerly the Municipal Court 
Office. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to Apply for the Georgia ReLeaf Program grant with the 
Georgia Urban Forest Council, in partnership with the Georgia Forestry Commission.  The 
maximum grant award is $5,000 and no local match is required. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the submission 
of an application for the Georgia ReLeaf Program grant with the Georgia Urban Forest Council, 
in partnership with the Georgia Forestry Commission.  The maximum grant award is $5,000 and 
no local match is required. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor 
of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Appeal by Capstone Benefits Consulting and Glenn/ Davis made pursuant to City Ord 5-
336 regarding award of city insurance brokerage contract to Shaw Hankins on September 
19, 2017. 
 
Mayor Moore presented the guidelines of the appeal process. City Manager Randy Wetmore 
gave a statement of how the decision was made when choosing the best insurance firm. 
 
Brian Davis of Glen/ Davis and Associates and TBS president John Taylor presented their appeal 
along with a power point.  
 
Ben Watkins with Capstone Benefits Consulting also presented his appeal. 
 
Scott Hankins representing Shaw/Hankins answered questions on their proposal that was 
approved at the September 19, 2017 Council meeting. 
 
After much discussion, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to 
rescind the vote of approval that was made on September 19, 2017 awarding the insurance 
contract to Shaw/Hankins. Councilman Jones, Riggs, and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
Councilman Boyum and Yawn voted against the motion. The motion carried by a 3-2 vote.  
 
With further discussion of Mayor and Council members, Councilman Chance made a motion, 
seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the extension of the current insurance carrier, 
Glen/Davis & Associates, until March 31, 2018 during that time Councilman Chance and 
Councilman Yawn would choose an independent party to reevaluate the proposed RFO’S of the 
three insurance companies. The reevaluated results would then be presented to Council no later 
than April 1st 2018. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council: None 
 
City Managers Comments 
 
Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire updated Council on the progress on the construction of 
the City Hall front porch and balcony. Mr. Cheshire stated the project should be complete in 
about 2 weeks. 
 



 
 

Police Chief Mike Broadhead stated that 2 of his officers have completed training and one of 
them had been named class president. 
 
Public Comments (General): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
There was no Executive Session held. 
 
Mayor Moore reminded everyone that “TAD” would be voted on tonight at the County 
Commission meeting. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:30 am. 
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Travis L. Chance 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:  City Manager Randy Wetmore 
 
From: Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
Date: October 10,  2017 
 
RE: Destruction of Municipal records that have met retention 
 
Policy Issue: OCGA 50-18-90, et. seq., known as the "Georgia Records Act" 
requires that all public records be retained for a specified period set out in 
an adopted records retention schedule, with such records only being 
destroyed if the holding period has been met 
 
Recommendation: the City Clerk is the city official in charge of maintaining said 
records, and recommending their destruction when the required holding period 
has been met 
 
Background: Sec. 2-7. - Records retention schedule adopted. 

On April 18, 1995, during the regularly scheduled meeting of mayor and 
council, the State of Georgia Records Retention Schedule was officially 
adopted as the retention schedule for the city's records management 
program. (Ord. of 4-18-95) 

Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Resolution 2017-36  along with a list of records that have met their 
retention. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 



RESOLUTION #2017-36: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE 
DESTRUCTION OF CERTAIN MUNICIPAL RECORDS 

 
 

THAT WHEREAS, OCGA 50-18-90, et. seq., known as the "Georgia Records Act" 
requires that all public records be retained for a specified period set out in an adopted 
records retention schedule, with such records only being destroyed if the holding period has 
been met; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Clerk is the city official in charge of maintaining said records, 

and recommending their destruction when the required holding period has been met; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Clerk has certified public records noted in the attachments to 
this resolution have been retained and available for the required retention period, and are no 
longer needed by the City, and therefore has recommended that they be destroyed; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of The 

City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 

Section 1. That the public records listed on the attachments to the Resolution, which said 
attachments are hereby incorporated into this Resolution as if fully set forth in the 
Resolution, are hereby authorized for destruction and are required to be destroyed by the 
City Clerk in a manner consistent with state law. 

 
Section 2. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of 
adoption. 

 
Adopted this _17th _ day of October,  2017. 

 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
 

By:_________________________               
       Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

 
Attest:_______________________ 

             Sue Starling, City Clerk 
  

 
 
 





















COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Lee Jones, District 2  
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Travis L. Chance, District 5 
 

 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  
Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                  www.statesboroga.gov  
 

City of Statesboro   

       

 

 
50 East Main Street P.O. Box 348 

Statesboro, Georgia 30459 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, P.E., Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

               Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 

 

  
 
 
 
To:  Mayor and City Council 
 
From:  Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: October 10, 2017 
 
RE:  Approval of intergovernmental agreement (IGA) regarding participation of Bulloch County 
and payment of a portion of its tax increment to City of Statesboro TAD #1: Downtown TAD. 
 
Policy Issue: Council approval is required to enter into IGA with Bulloch County regarding County 
contributions to TAD #1 and City’s obligations. As long as IGA is effective and City millage rate exceeds 
County millage rate, the County shall match City tax increment contributions to TAD special fund. IGA 
and TAD shall expire at a date no later than December 31, 2039. 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: City created TAD#1 in 2014 with an effective date of December 31, 2014. City tax 
increment has been allocated to TAD special fund since that time. 
 
Bulloch County passed a resolution on October 3, 2017 approving IGA with City that allows for inclusion 
of County tax increment in the district and appointment of County nominees to the TAD Advisory 
Committee. All projects approved by Advisory Committee must be subsequently approved by Council.  
 
IGA has not yet been approved by City, and City approval is necessary for the IGA to be effective. 
 
Budget Impact: N/A 
 
Council Person and District:  All  
 
Attachments: Synopsis of TAD and Copy of TAD IGA executed by Bulloch County Board of 
Commissioners. 
 
 
  
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


1. County is presenting an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) for consideration that 
allows County to materially participate in the community effort to revitalize South Main 
Street. 

2. City has adopted a Tax Allocation District (TAD) for the area commonly known as the Blue 
Mile, downtown Statesboro, and adjacent areas to the north, south, and east. A 
Redevelopment Plan for this area was also commissioned by the City, and all TAD 
expenditures and debt obligations will be for projects within the district and in 
accordance with the Redevelopment Plan.  

3. City created a digest of the taxable values of all property within the TAD that was 
certified by the State Commissioner of Revenue as of 12/31/14. This value is known as 
the Tax Increment Base (Base) and is $38,885,569. The Positive Tax Allocation Increment 
(Increment) is the difference between the base taxable value and the then current 
taxable value of real property. 

4. City will deposit all property taxes collected on the Increment into a special TAD fund. As 
long as County has a tax rate higher than the City, County will essentially match City’s 
contribution to the special fund. In no case shall County’s TAD contribution exceed City’s. 
These funds shall be allowed to accrue and will only be returned to City and County in 
the event of termination of the TAD. 

5. TAD funds will be used to spur development by paying for improvements and to secure 
and pay off TAD financing where the City borrows money from financial institutions or 
issues revenue bonds to be repaid with Increment revenue 

6. A TAD Advisory Committee will be appointed with three members appointed by both City 
and County. Committee will develop TAD policies and procedures (to be presented to 
City Council for adoption) and evaluate projects. 

7. Upon approval by a simple majority of the Committee, projects will be presented to the 
City Council for consideration. City may not consider or proceed with any project or 
authorize TAD financing for any project without approval by Committee. Construction of 
or improvements to government buildings is expressly prohibited. 

8. Should no significant projects commence within ten years of adoption of the IGA, the 
TAD shall terminate. TAD shall terminate by 12/31/39 at the latest, and no debt shall 
issue that will not be fully repaid by the same date. 

9. Inclusion of School Board Increment funds and Committee members is also 
contemplated and provided for in presented IGA. 

10. City shall report on TAD status and progress to County on annual basis. Both City and 
County shall retain 1% of the Increment for imputed administrative costs. 































 
 CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, P.E.,  

Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Travis L. Chance 

 

 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Candra Teshome, Planning & Development Specialist 

 

Date: October 6, 2017 

 

RE: October 17, 2017 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ 17-10-01 with one condition. The Planning 

Commission voted to approve the request with staff’s condition.  

 

Background: Paul D. Walsh requests a zoning map amendment for .7 acres of 

property located at Lanier Drive from R4 (High Density Residential District) to CR 

(Commercial Retail) zoning district to construct a mixed-use retail center (Tax 

Parcel # MS63 000010 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jeff Yawn (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 17-10-01 



 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 1 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

RZ 17-10-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

LANIER DRIVE 

LOCATION: 
Lanier Drive 

 

REQUEST: Rezone from R4 (High Density Residential) to 

CR (Commercial Retail) 

APPLICANT: Paul D. Walsh 

OWNER(S): Jacquelyn A. Pearson 

LAND AREA: .7 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
MS63 000010 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
3 (Yawn) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a zoning map amendment of .7 acres of property that fronts Lanier Drive and is immediately 
South of Rumblewood from R4 (High-Density Residential) to CR (Commercial Retail) District in order to construct  a 
small strip center with apartments on the upper floors (See Exhibit A—Location Map, Exhibit B— Sketch Plan dated 

September 6, 2017).   

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential) Multi-family dwelling units (Ellis Apartments) 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) Food service facilities (Subway); personal 
service facilities (Southern Celebrities) 

EAST: R4 (High Density Residential) Multi-family dwelling units (Eagle Creek) 

WEST CR (Commercial Retail) Multi-family dwelling units (Stadium Place) 

Properties to the immediate north and east are zoned R4 (High Density Residential District) and are utilized as multi-
family housing. Property to the south and west is zoned CR (Commercial Retail) and contains food service facilities, 
personal service facilities and multi-family housing units (See Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site and Surrounding 
Properties and Exhibit D—2014 Future Development Map). 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Residential Redevelopment” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro 
Future Development Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  This character area has most of its 
original housing stock in place, but has worsening housing conditions due to low rates of homeownership and neglect of 
property maintenance. There may be a lack of neighborhood identity and gradual invasion of different type and intensity 
of use that may not be compatible with the neighborhood residential use, or a neighborhood that has declined 



 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

sufficiently that housing conditions are bad, there may be large areas of vacant land or deteriorating, unoccupied 
structures. Some suggested development and implementation strategies for the area include the following: 

 

 Focus on strategic public investments to improve conditions, appropriate infill development on scattered 
vacant sites, and encouraging more homeownership and maintenance or upgrade of existing properties. 

 Public investment in sidewalks, right of way improvements, and redevelopment incentives should be 
focused where needed to ensure that the neighborhood becomes more stable, mixed income community 
with a larger percentage of owner occupied housing. 

 The redevelopment strategy for the area should focus on preserving what remains of the original housing 
stock, while rebuilding on the remaining land, a new, attractive neighborhood following the principles of 
traditional neighborhood development. 

 Strengthen code enforcement, property maintenance, and the demolition of dilapidated structures in area. 

 The neighborhood should include a well-designed new neighborhood activity center at the appropriate 
location, which would provide a focal point for the neighborhood, while also providing a suitable location 
for a grocery store, hardware store, school, and similar appropriately scaled retail establishments serving 
neighborhood residents. 

 Strong pedestrian and bicycle connections should also be provided to encourage residents to walk/bike to 
work, shopping, or other destinations in the area. 

 New streets should be connected (i.e., minimize or prohibit cul-de-sacs_, to disperse traffic, shorten 
walking/biking trips. 

 Design features that encourage safe, accessible streets should be employed- such as, narrower streets, 
on street parking, sidewalks, street trees, and landscaped raised median for minor collectors and wider 
streets. 

2014 Statesboro Comprehensive Plan Update, pages 21. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is expected 
on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

 
Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are as follows: 
 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 
(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 

health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 
(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 
(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 
(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 

development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 
(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 

community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 



 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 
and  

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by RZ 17-10-01 with the following condition:  

1. Staff disapproves the submitted sketch plan (See Exhibit B—Sketch Plan dated September 6, 2017) and 

requires the submission of all appropriate plans that meet the minimum development regulations. All plans 

must be approved prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

At its regularly scheduled meeting held Tuesday, October 3, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 6 to 0 to approve 

the zoning map amendment requested by application RZ 17-10-01 with staff’s the following condition:  

1. The applicant must submit all appropriate plans that meet the minimum development regulations. All plans 

must be approved prior to the issuance of a building permit.  



 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT B: SKETCH PLAN 

 



 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY 

 

Figure 1:  Subject Site Facing Northwest toward Lanier Drive 

 

 

 

Figure 2:  Undeveloped Subject site from Existing Pavement  

 



 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

 
EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY. 
 
Figure 3:  Existing 30’ Access Easement 

 

 

 

 
Figure 4:  Adjacent property to the South of the Subject Site 
 
 

 

 

 



 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY. 
 

 

 

Figure 5:  30’ Access Easement and Adjacent Property line to the South of the Subject Site 

 

 

 

 

Figure 6:  Subject Site Facing North Depicting Lanier Drive 

 



 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 9 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 17-10-01 

September 28, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT D: 2014 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 
 

 



 
 CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, P.E.,  

Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Travis L. Chance 

 

 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Candra Teshome, Planning & Development Specialist 

 

Date: October 6, 2017 

 

RE: October 17, 2017 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ 17-09-02 with one condition. The Planning 

Commission voted to approve the request with staff’s condition.  

 

Background: Robert Byrd requests a zoning map amendment for .14 acres of 

property located at 204 Roundtree Street from R6 (Single-Family Residential) to 

CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to construct a parking lot, farmer’s market 

and community area (Tax Parcel # S09 000068 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Sam Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 17-09-02 



 
 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

RZ 17-09-02 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

204 ROUNDTREE STREET  

LOCATION: 204 Roundtree Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Rezone from R6 (Single-Family Residential) 

to CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to 

permit construction of a parking lot and use of 

the parcel for a farmer’s market and 

community area.   

APPLICANT: Robert L. Byrd 

OWNER(S): Robert L. Byrd 

ACRES: .14 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S09 000068 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
2 (Jones) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a zoning map amendment from R6 (Single-Family Residential) to the CR (Commercial 
Retail) zoning district for .14 acres of property located at 204 Roundtree Street (Tax Parcel S09 000068 000) to permit 
the construction of a parking lot and use of the property for a farmer’s market and community area (See Exhibit A – 
Location Map and Exhibit E—Proposed Concept Plan). 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R6 (Single-family Residential) Single-family dwelling units 

SOUTH: R6 (Single-family Residential) Single-family dwelling units and personal service facilities 

EAST: R6 (Single-family Residential) and CR 
(Commercial Retail)  

Food service facilities 

WEST R6 (Single-family Residential) Single-family dwelling units 

 

Properties to the north, south and west are predominantly single-family dwelling units. The parcel to the east is 
owned by the applicant and is a food service facility (See Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Commercial Redevelopment Area #3” character area as identified by the City of 
Statesboro 2014 Future Development Map (See Exhibit D—2014 Future Development Map) within the City of 

Statesboro Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan.   

Vision:  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

The Commercial Redevelopment areas are currently in decline with vacant or underutilized properties. These areas are 
characterized by a high degree of access by vehicular traffic; onsite parking; and a low degree of open space. It is the 
desire of the community to identify and target these areas for redevelopment and investment, thus returning these 
areas to their intended state of a thriving commercial and/or mixed use district.  

Appropriate land uses include:  

 Major employers 

 Commercial, including big box 

 Medium/high density residential 

 Single-family residential along arterials 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

 Upgrading the appearance of existing older commercial buildings with façade improvements, new architectural 
elements, or awnings. 

 Building in centers architecturally integrated with the site and one another, and developed at a scale sufficient 
in size, bulk, and height to provide image identification for the center and the surrounding community. 

 Redevelopment of older commercial centers in lieu of new construction further down the corridor. 

Statesboro Updated 2015 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 26. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is expected 
on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

 
I. Application RZ 17-09-02: Whether or not to grant a request to rezone .14 acres from R6 (Single-family 

Residential) to CR (Commercial Retail)  

The request to rezone the subject property should be considered in light of the standards for determination of 
zoning map amendments given in Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community 
policies articulated within the city’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and 
the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to 
develop in conformance with the requirements of the proposed HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning 
district for uses as set forth in the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City 
Council to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing 
the promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8. Staff findings regarding some 
of the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, 
safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; environmental 
aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    

Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by application RZ 17-09-02 with the following 
condition: 

1. The applicant must place the proposed 8 X 10 utility shed along the property line shared with 719 Martin 
Luther King, Jr. Drive (Tax Parcel S09 000067 000).  

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  

At its regularly scheduled meeting held Tuesday, October 3, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 6 to 0 to approve 
the zoning map amendment requested by application RZ 17-09-02 with the following condition:  

1. The applicant must place the proposed 8 X 10 utility shed along the property line shared with 719 Martin 
Luther King, Jr. Drive (Tax Parcel S09 000067 000).  

 

 

 

 

 

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA 

 

Picture 1 Subject Property Facing Northeast Depicting Property Line with Commercial Retail Zoned Parcel 

 

Picture 2 Subject Property Facing Northeast Depicting Property Line with Commercial Retail Zoned Parcel 

 

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA CONTINUED 

 

 

Picture 3 Subject Property Facing Northwest Depicting Property Line with Single-family Zoned Parcel  

 

 

Picture 3 Roundtree Street Facing Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA CONTINUED 

 

 

Picture 4 Commercial Retail Strip Center across Roundtree Street from the Subject Property 

 
 

Picture 5 Single-family Residential Dwelling Unit across Roundtree Street from Subject Property 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA CONTINUED 

 

 

Picture 6 Roundtree Street facing West at Entrance to Subject Property  

 

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 9 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT D: 2014 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 10 of 10 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 17-09-02 

September 28, 2017 
Updated: October 6, 2017 

 

EXHIBIT E: PROPOSED CONCEPT PLAN 

 

 



 
 CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, P.E.,  

Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Travis L. Chance 

 

 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Candra Teshome, Planning & Development Specialist 

 

Date: October 6, 2017 

 

RE: October 17, 2017 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance requested by 

application V 17-10-02. The Planning Commission voted to approve the request.  

 

Background: Whitfield Signs requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) 

Table 3 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 8.24 acres of property located at 

409 Clairborne Avenue regarding the maximum allowed for freestanding and 

building signs in Sign District 1 (Tax Parcel # S53 000001 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jeff Yawn (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report V 17-10-02 



 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Planning & Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458           (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

V 17-10-02 

VARIANCE REQUEST 

409 Clairborne Avenue 

LOCATION: 409 Clairborne Avenue 

 

REQUEST: 

Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) 

Table 3 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

regarding the maximum square footage 

allowed for one (1) freestanding sign and one 

(1) building sign in Sign District 1.  

APPLICANT: Whitfield Signs 

OWNER(S): South Main Ptp LLC & John E Lavender 

ACRES: 8.24 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S53 000001 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 3 (Yawn) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 3 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

regarding the maximum square footage allowed for one (1) monument sign, one (1) building sign and the maximum 
aggregate square footage allowed in Sign District 3.  

The subject site is located in the R15 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district and is regulated as a nonresidential use 
(See Exhibit A—Location Map, Exhibit B – Future Development Map and Exhibit C—Section 1509(C) Table 3). The 

customer proposes the installation of one 66.1 square feet freestanding sign and one (1) 109.2 square feet building sign 
(See Exhibit E—Proposed Signage Plans).  

The maximum square footage allowed for both freestanding and building signs is 40 square feet. In addition, the 
maximum allowed aggregate square footage is 80 square feet and the applicant is proposing 206.3 aggregate square 
feet for the site.  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R15 (Single-Family Residential)  Single-family dwelling units 

SOUTH: R15 (Single-Family Residential) and O (Office 
and Business Office) 

Single-family dwelling units and personal service facilities 

EAST: R15 (Single-Family Residential), PUD 
(Planned Unit Development) and CR 
(Commercial Retail) 

Single-family dwelling units, vacant parcel and personal 
service facilities 

WEST R15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-family dwelling units 



 

Page 2 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

The subject property is located in the R15 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district. Surrounding parcels include mixed 
uses, such as single-family dwelling units, retail shops, and personal service facilities (See Exhibit A – Location Map, 
Exhibit B—Future Development Map, Exhibit D—Site and Surrounding Property Photos and Exhibit E—Proposed 

Signage Plans). 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Established Residential Neighborhood” character area as identified by the City of 

Statesboro Future Development Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan.  The traditional 

residential neighborhoods in the Established area were developed from the late 19th to mid-20th century, and feature 

connected street grids linked with downtown. Sidewalks should be located on both sides of major streets; lesser 

streets may have limited facilities. Major corridors in this area may support a mix of residential and commercial uses. 

As corridors transition from residential to commercial, the original structures should be maintained and renovated 

whenever possible. Any new structures should respect the existing fabric of the neighborhood, through similar front, 

side, and rear setbacks. (See Exhibit B – Future Development Map). 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 17. 

The Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states the following:  

“Statesboro residents have expressed dissatisfaction with a variety of features in the community which clutter 
streetscapes and obstruct natural landscape features -particularly on major corridors entering and exiting the 
community. While City leadership has acknowledged the need to comprehensively update land development 
regulations to holistically address aesthetic concerns, there exist a number of individual topics which can be 
addressed by ordinance amendments in the short-term. Signs (attached and detached) should be managed by 
incorporating uniform design features, and by restricting billboards and other off-premise signage which 
distract from traffic control signage and compete with local and other on-site businesses.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 11. 

ANALYSIS: 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 3: Sign District 1 Dimensional Standards to permit 
an increase in the maximum square footage for one (1) freestanding sign, one (1) building sign 
and an increase in the maximum aggregate square feet allowed for the site.  

 
The applicant requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 3 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 
regarding the maximum square footage allowed for one (1) monument sign, one (1) building sign and the maximum 
aggregate square footage allowed in Sign District 1. 
 
Sign District 1 allows for a maximum 40 square feet for freestanding signs. The applicant’s intention is to increase the 
maximum height for a freestanding sign from 40 square feet to 66.1 square feet. In addition, the applicant would like to 
increase the maximum allowed square footage for a building sign from 40 square feet to 109.2 square feet. Finally, the 
applicant requests an increase in the maximum aggregate square feet allowed for the site from 80 square feet to 206.3 
square feet. 
 

Sign District 1 Regulations Applicant’s Request Permitted 
Freestanding Signs: One sign 
structure per road frontage not to 
exceed 40 square feet and 8 feet in 
height 

One (1) 66.1 square feet freestanding sign; 7.5’ 
tall 

N/A 

Building Signs: One per building 
elevation not to exceed 40 square feet  

One (1) 109.2 square feet building sign and one 
(1) 31 square feet building sign 

N/A 

Aggregate Sign Area: 80 square feet 
including freestanding and building 
signs 

Three (3) signs with a total aggregate sign area of 
206.3 square feet 

N/A 

 
Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of this ordinance 
[chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article XV regarding signs is part 
of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances by the City Council from the zoning 
regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be 
observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor 
and Council [should] consider if the following are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 
1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its size, 

shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common to other 
land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 



 

Page 3 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

 
2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 

 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 

 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 

purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends approval of the variances requested by application V 17-10-02.  
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

At its regularly scheduled meeting held Tuesday, October 3, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 6 to 0 to approve 
the variance requested by application V 17-10-02. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 4 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

 
EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

 

 

  



 

Page 5 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 6 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

EXHIBIT C: ARTICLE XV SECTION 1509(C) Table 3 

 

  



 

Page 7 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

EXHIBIT D: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

 

Picture 1: Southern Wall of Subject Site Facing North toward East Jones Avenue Depicting Deep Setback 

from Brannen Street   

 

 

Picture 2: Closer View of Southern Wall Depicting Proposed Elevation for the 109.2 sq. ft. Building Sign 

  



 

Page 8 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

EXHIBIT D: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (CONT) 

 

 

Picture 3: Surrounding Single-Family Dwelling Units on Brannen Street 

 

Picture 4: Intersection of Brannen Street and Gentilly Road 

 

 

 



 

Page 9 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

EXHIBIT D: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (CONT) 

 

Picture 5: Surrounding Personal Service Facilities at Gentilly Road and Brannen Street 

 

  



 

Page 10 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

EXHIBIT E: PROPOSED SIGNAGE PLANS 

 

Picture 6 Proposed 109.2 sq. ft. Building Sign 

  



 

Page 11 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

EXHIBIT E: PROPOSED SIGNAGE PLANS (CONT) 

 

Picture 7 Proposed 66.1 sq. ft. freestanding sign 

 
  



 

Page 12 of 12 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 17-10-02 

September 27, 2017 

Updated: October 6, 2017 

EXHIBIT E: PROPOSED SIGNAGE PLANS (CONT) 

 

Picture 8 Customer Submitted Aerial View Depicting location of Each Proposed Sign 

 



 
 CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, P.E.,  

Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Travis L. Chance 

 

 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Candra Teshome, Planning & Development Specialist 

 

Date: October 6, 2017 

 

RE: October 17, 2017 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Resolution to Create Keep Statesboro Bulloch Beautiful (KSBB) Board 

of Directors and Organization. Resolution and Letter of Support to forward to the 

state.  

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the resolution. 

 

Background: Grant received from the state to create KSBB 

 

Budget Impact: Grant funded 

 

Council Person and District: None 

 

Attachments: Letter of Support, Bylaws Of The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful 

Commission and Resolution 



50 EAST MAIN ST. ● STATESBORO, GA 30458 ● (912) 764-5468 ● FAX (912) 764-4691 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

 

October 6, 2017 

 

April Wennerstrom 

Director, Affiliate Development 

Keep America Beautiful, Inc.  

Affiliate Services Department 

1010 Washington Blvd. 

Stamford, CT 06901 

 

Dear  Ms. Wennerstrom: 

 

The City Council, staff, and citizens of Statesboro, Georgia have joined together to 

enthusiastically support the application of Migration for a Statesboro Keep America Beautiful 

chapter. We hope that by supporting this Migration application, the City of Statesboro will have 

the opportunity to develop a successful KAB program, to involve our citizens in improving the 

quality of this community.  

 

Enclosed, along with the application for Migration and a check for the Migration fee, are the 

drafts of our proposed Bylaws and Resolution, budget, and other supplemental materials 

requested by Keep America Beautiful. We believe this illustrates the commitment our 

government has to this program. On behalf of the City of Statesboro, I am pleased to support and 

sponsor this application for Migration for Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful. We look forward 

to working with Keep America Beautiful and Keep Georgia Beautiful Foundation in the Future, 

and we pledge to support local efforts to establish a KAB chapter in this community.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Jan Moore, Mayor 

City of Statesboro 



BYLAWS OF THE KEEP STATESBORO-BULLOCH BEAUTIFUL COMMISSION 

 

 

Article 1 

NAME AND OBJECTIVES 

 

1.1 Name.  The Commission shall conduct its activities under the following name: Keep 

Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful and shall be referenced by the acronym KSBB. 

 

1.2 Objectives. KSBB’s objectives are: 

(a) Encourage all citizens of Statesboro to end litter, minimize solid waste, and beautify the 

community. 

(b) To obtain updated litter and solid waste control ordinances. 

(c) To seek effective enforcement of all pertinent ordinances and laws.  

(d) To emphasize the importance of community revitalization, cleanup, and greenspaces. 

 

Article 2 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

2.1  Members. The KSBB Commission shall consist of 7 members of a Board of Directors, 

appointed as established by the Resolution of the City of Statesboro. 

 

2.2  Terms.  Terms of the members shall be three (3) years, effective October 1 and terminating 

three (3) years later on September 30, provided the initial appointees of the City of Statesboro 

shall serve an initial one (1) year term to introduce staggered terms. Each Member whose term 

expires shall continue until their successor has been appointed. 

 

2.3  Responsibility.  KSBB Board members shall be responsible for all functions and activities of 

the KSBBC. 

 

2.4  Compensation.  KSBB Board members shall receive no compensation for their service but 

can be reimbursed travel expenses for training and conferences outside Bulloch County, 

provided such expenses are documented by invoices and provided such expenses are approved 

prior to the event by the Director of Planning and Development of the City of Statesboro. 

 

2.5  Conflicts of Interest. Any Board member or relative of the Board member who has a direct 

or indirect financial interest in any contract or other transaction with the Commission must 

disclose to the Board, in advance, such interest. The Board member concerned may participate in 

discussions relating to the subject of their interest, but may not vote. 

 

Article 3 

OFFICERS 

 

3.1  Executive Director/Coordinator. The Executive Director/Coordinator shall be appointed in 

accordance with the personnel policies of the City of Statesboro. The Coordinator shall be 

deemed an employee of the City of Statesboro and therefore subject to its personnel policies.  



 

3.2  President. The President shall preside at meetings and, with the advice and consent of KSBB 

Board members, appoint project chairs and members. 

 

3.3  President-Elect/Vice President. The President-Elect shall act in the absence of the President 

and shall succeed the President in the event of a vacancy. 

 

3.4  Secretary. The Secretary shall maintain records of the minutes of KSBB’s actions and 

meetings. 

 

3.5  Treasurer. The Treasurer shall be responsible for maintaining financial records of KSBB, 

with the assistance of the Finance Department staff of the City of Statesboro. 

 

3.6  Additional Officers. All officers shall be elected by KSBB’s 7-member Board of Directors at 

its annual meeting as described below. 

 

3.7  Holding Multiple Offices. Any two offices may be held by the same person, except the 

offices of President and President-Elect/Vice President, and the offices of President and 

Secretary. A failure to elect any Officer shall not affect the existence of the Commission. 

 

Article 4 

MEETINGS 

 

4.1  Regular Meetings. KSBB shall meet at least once monthly, or as needed, in the chambers of 

the City of Statesboro City Hall or at such other time and place as may be established by KSBB 

resolution from time to time.  

 

4.2  Special Meetings.  Special meetings may be called by the President of the Board of 

Directors or by a quorum of KSBB Board members. 

 

4.3  Notice.  Notice of meetings can be furnished by writing, by telephone or electronically and 

must be furnished forty-eight (48) hours in advance of any meeting, regular or special. 

 

4.4  Annual Meeting.  The annual meeting shall be held as determined by KSBB Board 

members. 

 

4.5  Proxies.  A Board member may vote in person or by proxy executed, in writing, by the 

member, or the member’s duly-authorized attorney-in-fact. No proxy shall be valid after one (1) 

month from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy. 

 

4.6  Open Meeting Laws.  All meetings will be subject to State of Georgia open meeting laws. 

 

Article 5 

QUORUM AND VOTING 

 

5.1  Quorum.  A quorum of KSBB shall consist of a majority of its Board membership. 



 

5.2  Action.  Action on any matter shall be taken by majority vote of a KSBB Board quorum. 

 

5.3  Attendance.  KSBB members shall attend at least two-thirds (2/3) of the meetings in a 

twelve (12) month period or their KSBB memberships will automatically lapse. The Secretary 

shall maintain such attendance records. 

 

5.4  Ex Officio Members.  The Mayor of the City of Statesboro, City Manager, Deputy City 

Manager, and Director of Planning and Development shall serve as ex officio members of 

KSBB, shall receive notice of all meetings and copies of meeting minutes, and shall otherwise 

have all rights of membership except such ex officio members shall not vote and shall not count 

towards quorum. 

 

Article 6COMMITTEES 

 

6.1 Appointment.  KSBB Board members shall appoint members and subcommittees if deemed 

necessary for the efficiency of project management and organizational governance.  

 

6.2  Subcommittees.  Members may be appointed to committees including, but not limited to: 

(a) Executive 

(b) Finance 

(c) Education 

(d) Business and Industry 

(e) Communications/Public Relations 

(f) Civic/Community 

 

6.3  Committee Officers. Each Committee shall elect from its membership a Chair and a 

Secretary. 

 

Article 7PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE 

 

7.1  Robert’s Rules of Order.  All meetings shall be conducted in accordance with Robert’s Rules 

of Order, unless otherwise expressly provided in these bylaws. 

 

Article 8 

FUNDS 

 

8.1  Donations.  Donations shall be accounted for in a separate line item titled “Keep Statesboro-

Bulloch Beautiful Donations.”  

 

8.2  Expenditures.  Expenditures will use a line item titled “Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful” 

and will be authorized by the Director of Planning and Development. At the end of the fiscal 

year, any donations not spent will be placed in an account titled “KSBB” to be used as needed 

for KSBB expenditures in subsequent years. 

 

 



Article 9 

AMENDMENTS 

 

9.1  Amendments to the Bylaws.  These bylaws may be amended by action of KSBB at any 

regular meeting, and after review and formal approval by the City of Statesboro City Council. 

  



KEEP STATESBORO-BULLOCH BEAUTIFUL COMMISSION 

GOVERNING BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The Board of Directors of the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful shall:  

 

1. Be accountable for all of KSBB’s operations. 

2. Develop programs and initiatives for KSBB. 

3. Interpret the community’s needs to KSBB and KSBB needs to the community. 

4. Establish an annual budget and secure funding for the budget. 

5. Support and evaluate the Executive Director/Coordinator.  

6. Assess Board performance. 

7. Be accountable to Keep Georgia Beautiful and Keep America Beautiful Affiliate 

guidelines and regulations. 

 



RESOLUTION 

GEORGIA, CITY OF STATESBORO 

The following resolution has been duly adopted by the municipal government of the City of 

Statesboro on the dates indicated below. 

Recitals 

A. All local community governments recognize the need in our community to abate litter, minimize 

solid waste, and beautify our communities. 

B. The national Keep America Beautiful program offers affiliation to communities like ours, and 

provides a method of systematically obtaining the goal of cleaning and beautifying the city of 

Statesboro and surrounding areas. 

C. The Bulloch County Board of Commissioners, as well as all of the local governments within 

Bulloch County (Brooklet, Portal, Register, & Statesboro) have previously passed resolutions 

approving an application for certification as a Keep America Beautiful and Keep Georgia 

Beautiful Affiliates. 

D. One of the requirements of achieving certification as a KAB affiliate is the establishment of a 

commission to act as the ongoing leadership and governing organization for the local Keep 

America Beautiful/Keep Georgia Beautiful initiative. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing recitals, the undersigned government 

does resolve: 

1. There is established effective immediately the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Commission

(KSBBC)

2. KSBBC shall be composed of seven (7) members of a Board of Directors who will serve three (3)

year terms and who are eligible for reappointment; Provided, however, the City of Statesboro’s

appointees shall serve an initial one (1) terms, to establish staggered terms for KSBB.

3. KSBBC shall elect officers from among its membership and shall be governed in compliance

with its bylaws, which bylaws shall be subject to the prior approval of the City of Statesboro

municipal government executing this resolution.

4. KSBBC shall remain in existence unless and until abolished by the joint resolution of the

undersigned government.

5. The undersigned adopt as a mission statement of KSBBC the following:

2017-35



Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful (KSBB) strives to educate and empower citizens and 

businesses with the resources needed to facilitate litter prevention, beautification, and community 

greening within the city of Statesboro and surrounding areas. KSBB's main focus is community 

beautification, revitalization, and sustainability through the education and collaboration of local 

citizens, public, private, and nonprofit entities. KSBB is a Keep Georgia Beautiful Foundation 

affiliate and a Keep America Beautiful affiliate. 

6. The guiding principles of KSBBC shall be: 

a. Education 

b. Individual Responsibility 

c. Public, Private, and Nonprofit partnerships for effective community action. 

7. The undersigned government declares that the mandate of KSBBC shall be: 

a. To encourage all citizens of Statesboro to end litter, minimize solid waste, and 

beautify the community. 

b. To obtain updated litter and solid waste control ordinances. 

c. To seek effective enforcement of all pertinent ordinances and laws. 

d. To emphasize the importance of community revitalization, cleanup, and 

greenspaces. 

8. KSBBC members shall govern the activities of KSBB, and all such activities shall be 

undertaken and conducted under the name of KSSB, or Keep Statesboro-Bulloch 

Beautiful. 

9. Funding for KSBBC shall be by the City of Statesboro and in-kind donations. Effective 

July 1, 2017, KSBBC shall be funded by annual budget appropriations by the City of 

Statesboro. 

10. Audit 

Incident to and as part of the annual audit of the City of Statesboro, all accounts of the 

Commission shall likewise by annually audited. 

 

Adopted this ______ day of ________, 2017, by the City of Statesboro___________. 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO REPRESENTATIVE 



 
 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

    
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

 

From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 

  Brad Deal, P.E., City Engineer 

  Marcos Trejo Jr. Stormwater Manager 

 

Date:  10/10/2017 

 

RE: Recommendation to Reject All Bids for “South College Street Headwall 

Construction” 

 

Policy Issue: Purchasing  

 

Recommendation:  

Sealed bids for the referenced project were received on September 19, 2017 as follows: 

Southeastern Civil $289,865.47 

Y-Delta $295,000.00 

 

The low bidder, Southeastern Civil, came in at $109,865.47 over our budgeted amount 

of $180,000. After meeting with the low bidder and design engineer, staff recommends 

the City of Statesboro reject all bids and rebid at a later date. 

 

Background:  

The City of Statesboro solicited seal bids for the construction of two headwalls at the 

Little Lott’s Tributary crossing at South College Street to correct some on-going erosion 

problems. This project was advertised and staff contacted serval qualified contractors 

serving our region. Two sealed bids were received as shown above. After receiving the 

bids, staff met with the low bidder and design engineer to attempt to value engineer 

the project. As a result of these negotiations, staff felt it would be beneficial for the City 

to rebid the project. Adjustments to the specifications and scope may be made to 

reduce costs and encourage additional bidders. 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Sam Jones, District 2 

 

Attachments: none 

CC: Robert Cheshire, PE, Deputy City Manager 

        Darren Prather, Director of Central Services 


	10-17-2017 Council Agenda
	10-03-2017 Council minutes
	10-2017-36 Memo-Records Destruction
	10-2017-36 Resolution-Records Destruction
	10-2017-36 Back up for Records Destruction
	10-2017 Tad Memo - Cain Smith
	10-2017 TAD Mayor Memo
	10-2017 TAD Intergovernmental Agreement
	10-17-2017 Planning  CC Packet_Revised (1)
	10-2017-35 Resolution_CC Packet_KSBB
	10-2017 Bid South College Street Headwall Evaluation

